Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Free Radical Biology and Medicine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/freeradbiomed

Review Article A1M, an extravascular tissue cleaning and housekeeping protein

## Bo Åkerström\*, Magnus Gram

Division of Infection Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 April 2014 Received in revised form 26 June 2014 Accepted 27 June 2014 Available online 14 July 2014

Keywords: Alpha-1-microglobulin (A1M) Radical Reductase Heme Antioxidation Organelle Cell and tissue protection

## ABSTRACT

Alpha-1-microglobulin (A1M) is a small protein found intra- and extracellularly in all tissues of vertebrates. The protein was discovered 40 years ago and its physiological role remained unknown for a long time. A series of recent publications have demonstrated that A1M is a vital part of tissue housekeeping. A strongly electronegative free thiol group forms the structural basis of heme-binding, reductase, and radical-trapping properties. A rapid flow of liver-produced A1M through blood and extravascular compartments ensures clearing of biological fluids from heme and free radicals and repair of oxidative lesions. After binding, both the radicals and the A1M are electroneutral and therefore do not present any further oxidative stress to tissues. The biological cleaning cycle is completed by glomerular filtration, renal degradation, and urinary excretion of A1M heavily modified by covalently linked radicals and heme groups. Based on its role as a tissue housekeeping cleaning factor, A1M constitutes a potential therapeutic drug candidate in treatment or prophylaxis of diseases or conditions that are associated with pathological oxidative stress elements.

© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introduction.	275
A1M protein	275
Structure	275
Expression	276
Distribution	276
Mitochondria	276
Molecular mechanisms	276
Reduction.	276
Heme binding and degradation	277
Radical scavenging	277
Upregulated A1M expression	278
Protective effects	278
Cell models: Protection against Hb-, heme-, and radical-induced cell and tissue damage	278
Cell models: Protection against irradiation-induced cell damage	279
Organ models: Protection of skin explants and ex vivo perfused placenta	279
In vivo models: Protection effects of A1M infusion in rat and sheep models	279
Therapeutic potential of A1M.	280
Concluding remarks	280
Acknowledgments	280
References	280

Abbreviations: A1M, alpha-1-microglobulin;  $\alpha_1$ -microglobulin, ABTS, 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) \* Corresponding author. Fax: +46 46 15 77 56.

E-mail address: bo.akerstrom@med.lu.se (B. Åkerström).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.06.025 0891-5849/© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.







## Introduction

It has been recognized for many decades that intracellular activities such as macromolecular synthesis, degradation and transport, cell division, cell motility, energy production, etc., require constant maintenance and adjustments. The term "cell housekeeping" was coined to describe these basal activities found in all cells. Extracellular compartments also require maintenance and the term "tissue housekeeping" applies for extracellular processes that are developed to safeguard order, integrity, and functionality of the tissues. For example, waste products, generated from metabolism, dving cells, invading microorganisms, UVirradiation, etc., not only create untidiness but also constitute a chemical threat to tissue components and therefore must be removed. Small organic and inorganic radicals, including reactive oxygen species (ROS), make up a large group of these waste products, and constitute a potential problem during oxidative stress conditions due to the strong reactivity of their unpaired electrons. Failure to maintain intra- and extracellular housekeeping, or overwhelming the housekeeping machinery during stress conditions, leads to cell damage, organ failure, and development of diseases.

Recently, the human plasma and tissue protein A1M (alpha-1microglobulin,  $\alpha_1$ -microglobulin) has emerged as a tissue housekeeping protein with a central role in cleaning of oxidative waste products, macromolecular repair, and antioxidation protection. A1M was discovered nearly 40 years ago as a peculiar yellow-brown protein purified from human urine [1]. It was soon shown to be conserved in all vertebrates, secreted from liver and most other epithelial cells, and present in blood and all tissues at remarkably constant concentrations [2]. The yellow-brown coloration was demonstrated to consist of very heterogeneous covalent modifications of several amino acid side groups [3]. The past 10 years, a series of reports have revealed A1M's physiological role as a cell and tissue protective antioxidant, operating by clearing extravascular fluids of free radicals and heme groups, and transporting them to the kidneys for degradation [4] (Fig. 1). It is the purpose of this review to summarize the structural and functional properties of A1M and briefly discuss its therapeutic potential.

#### A1M protein

#### Structure

Human A1M has a molecular weight of 26 kDa and consists of a peptide chain with 183 amino acids [5,6] and oligosaccharides in three positions [7]. The protein is well conserved during evolution and A1M homologues have been identified in humans, other mammals, birds, amphibians, and fish (reviewed in [4]). A1M is a member of the lipocalin protein family, and the recently published crystal structure of human A1M [8] displays the typical lipocalin structural features (Fig. 2). The lipocalins are a group of 40-50 proteins found in all branches of life [9]. They share a common protein fold, a single polypeptide, 150-190 amino acid residues, and forms an antiparallel 8-9-stranded  $\beta$ -barrel with one closed and one open end. The interior of the barrel often serves as a binding site for small hydrophobic compounds. A1M contains a functionally important side chain, Cys34, which is found in all species, located on a loop near the lipocalin pocket, is solvent exposed (Fig. 2) [8], and involved in the binding/neutralization of target compounds [10].



**Fig. 1.** Overview of metabolism, biodistribution, and protective properties of A1M. From left to right: The main location of synthesis of A1M is the liver, but it is also expressed at a lower rate in most other cells. The expression rate of A1M is upregulated by elevated levels of Hb, heme, and free radicals. A1M is synthesized as A1M-bikunin, a precursor protein which is cleaved in the Golgi, and the A1M and bikunin proteins are secreted separately. After secretion, nascent A1M is rapidly extravasated and contributes to tissue housekeeping by radical and heme cleaning, tissue repair, and mitochondrial protection of wounded cells as described in the text. Finally, heme- and radical-modified A1M is again taken up by the bloodstream via unknown mechanisms, and cleared by glomerular filtration and tubular reabsorption and degradation. The figure was made by Axelform (http://www.axelform.com).



**Fig. 2.** Ribbon representation of three-dimensional crystal structure of human A1M. The molecule is viewed from the side of the lipocalin barrel with the opening to the left. The nine  $\beta$ -strands constituting the lipocalin barrel are marked with yellow color. Side groups with identified or suggested function have been highlighted and labeled. Cys34 (red) is an absolute requirement for the reductase and cell-protection activities [38,40], is involved in radical scavenging [10], and was suggested to participate in heme binding [8]. Lys69, Lys92, Lys118, and Lys130 (blue) are involved in reductase activity [38] and are covalently modified *in vivo* [3,47]. Tyr22 and Tyr132 (black) are covalently modified in radical scavenging [10]. The figure is modified from the published crystal structure of human A1M [8].

#### Expression

The gene for A1M is denoted *AMBP* (Alpha-1-*M*icroglobulin-*B*ikunin *P*recursor gene) because it also encodes bikunin, another plasma protein [6]. Bikunin is a Kunitz-type protease inhibitor [11] and a structural component of extracellular matrix [12]. Bikunin is the common subunit of a group of protein/carbohydrate complexes that constitute plasma proteins of the inter- $\alpha$ -inhibitor family [13]. Transcription of the *AMBP* gene produces an mRNA that is translated into a precursor protein consisting of the A1M and bikunin proteins connected by a linker tripeptide [14]. Before secretion, the A1M and bikunin components are separated by proteolytic cleavage in the Golgi system [15]. No physical or functional connection has been found between A1M and bikunin after secretion and the reason for cosynthesis is not yet understood.

The *AMBP* gene has been cloned from man [16] and mouse [17] and mapped to a lipocalin gene cluster in the 9q32–33 region in man [16] and to chromosome 4 in mouse [18]. The A1M exons are separated from the bikunin exons by a large intron which contains retroposons and other repeated structures, suggesting that it is a recombinatorial hot spot [17]. This could have provided the basis for a fusion between an ancestral lipocalin gene (A1M) and an ancestral Kunitz inhibitor gene (bikunin). Interestingly, the A1M/ bikunin genetic construction is conserved in all species where A1M has been investigated.

#### Distribution

Liver, blood plasma, and kidney are the main sites of A1M localization [19]. The liver is the major site of synthesis [20] and its expression in liver is regulated by hepatocyte nuclear factors (HNF 1–4) [21–23]. Following synthesis, the protein is secreted to the blood, where it exists in a concentration of approximately 20–50 mg/ml [24]. About 50% of the total plasma A1M is found in a free form, exposing a reduced and functionally important cysteine side chain (Cys34), and the rest is complex bound mainly with IgA via a reduction-resistant disulfide bond involving Cys34 [25,26]. Minor complexes with albumin ( $\sim$  7%) and prothrombin ( $\sim$  1%)

have also been identified [25,26]. Both free A1M and the complexed forms are rapidly equilibrated between the intra- and extravascular compartments and their half-lifes in blood are about 2–3 min [27,28]. Free A1M passes almost unhindered through the glomerular membranes to the primary urine, where most of it is reabsorbed by the proximal tubular cells and catabolized [29]. Significant amounts, however, are excreted in the urine and the A1M concentration in urine is a sensitive, clinically used indicator of tubular renal damage [5].

Besides the liver, A1M mRNA has been detected in most other cell types and the A1M protein has been identified in the perivascular connective tissue of most organs [30,31], especially abundant in epidermis of skin [32]. It is often colocalized with elastin and collagen [31–33] and binds to collagen *in vitro* [34]. A distribution of A1M at various interfaces between the cells of the body and the ambient environment (blood/tissue, air/tissue, intestinal lumen/villi), as well as at the interface between maternal blood and fetal tissues in placenta [35,36], is consistent with a protective role of A1M *in vivo* (see below).

#### Mitochondria

A part of A1M is found intracellularly, localized mainly to the mitochondria, and specifically to Complex I of the respiratory chain [37]. Mitochondrial localization (Fig. 4D) and an uptake of exogenously added A1M to mitochondrial Complex I of skin keratinocytes, blood cells, and liver was shown by several methods. The functional role of A1M in the mitochondria is not fully characterized, but it was speculated that the protein is involved in assisting the mitochondria to maintain its energy delivery during cell death [37]. A1M may also, at the same time, counteract and eliminate the radicals generated by the mitochondrial respiration to prevent oxidative damage to surrounding healthy tissue [37].

## Molecular mechanisms

As shown in Fig. 1, A1M has a number of mechanistic properties which contribute to its role as a tissue housekeeping protein. These are summarized below.

#### Reduction

Enzymatic reductase/dehydrogenase properties were recently described for A1M with a wide spectrum of organic and inorganic substrates (Fig. 3A) [10,38]. The protein was capable of reducing the heme proteins cytochrome *c* and methemoglobin, free iron, and the synthetic compounds nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) [38]. The results thus suggest that A1M is rather unspecific with regard to its substrates. A catalytic reductase effect was seen in the presence of ascorbate, NADH, and NADPH [38], but these are probably not the only physiologically relevant electron-donating cofactors, since the reducing activity of A1M has been shown both intra- and extracellularly (see below). The reductase and dehydrogenase activities are dependent on the thiol group of Cys34 and the three lysyl residues of Lys92, 118, and 130. According to the three-dimensional structure of A1M, these four side chains are located in the vicinity of each other at the open end of the lipocalin barrel (Fig. 2). The three Lys residues were proposed to function by creating a positively charged microenvironment around the Cys34, thus lowering the  $pK_a$  of the thiol group and favoring its oxidation [38]. In addition, A1M rapidly reduced the synthetic radical 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) (ABTS), and this reaction was also dependent on the free thiol group of Cys34 [10]. Reduction of physiological substrates have been shown both intra- and extracellularly. It was shown that the cell cytosol and thiol groups of cytosolic proteins of the erythroid cell line



**Fig. 3.** Reductase and radical-trapping mechanisms of A1M. (A) Reductase properties. A1M is represented by a Lipocalin barrel showing the thiolate ( $S^-$ ) group of Cys34 and Lys92, Lys118 and Lys130, located around the upper rim of the lipocalin pocket. The  $pK_a$  of the Cys34 thiolate is lowered by the proximity of the three positively charged lysyl side chains. Electron transfer from the thiolate group can reduce various substrates as described in the text. The presence of electron-donating cofactors (NADH, NADPH, and ascorbate) regenerates the thiolyl radical, making the reduction faster and catalytic. (B) Radical-trapping mechanism. The figure is modified from [10] and based on the reactions with the synthetic radical 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) (ABTS). As in the reductase mode shown in panel A, the Cys34 thiolate undergoes a reducing electron-transfer reaction with a substrate, in this case a radical. In the absence of electron-donating cofactors, the resulting thiolyl radical is regenerated by intramolecular reactions with tryosyl side chains, producing tryosyl radicals. The tyrosyl radical substrate, forming a stable Tyr-radical adduct. The tyrosyl and lysyl side chains of Tyr22, Tyr132, Lys69, Lys92, Lys118, and Lys130 in the A1M-lipocalin pocket have been shown to be targets of covalent radical adduction. (C) Brown color of human urine A1M. Fifty (50) milligrams albumin and A1M was purified from human urine as described [5], dialyzed against water, and freeze-dried. Brown-colored heterogeneous covalent modifications of the human urine A1M. Specificity of the radical-trapping mechanism of A1M.

K562 were reduced by A1M [39]. Furthermore, A1M reduced the number of carbonyl groups on oxidized collagen in a reaction which was entirely dependent on the presence of Cys34, and partly on Lys92, 118, and 130 [32,40]. The detailed chemical mechanism of the carbonyl group reduction is not yet known, however.

## Heme binding and degradation

A1M binds heme with  $K_d = 10^{-6}$  M [41,42]. The heme binding is evolutionarily conserved and has been shown to occur to A1M in plasma from man, mouse, rat, guinea pig, cow, chicken, and plaice [42]. By titration of the heme group it was shown that a trimeric A1M/heme complex is formed, where each A1M molecule binds two heme groups, i.e., [(heme)<sub>2</sub>(A1M)]<sub>3</sub> [43]. A possible hemebinding site consisting of a Cys-Pro-dipeptide motif similar to those seen in the cytochrome P450 family is located at loop 1 (Cys34-Pro35) [8] (Fig. 2). Apart from this noncovalent interaction, a possibly covalent binding was seen which remained after boiling in SDS [41,42]. A processed form of A1M, called t-A1M (t=truncated), lacking the C-terminal tetrapeptide (Leu-Ile-Pro-Arg) of full-length A1M, was generated by a reaction with lysed red blood cells or with purified hemoglobin (Hb) [41]. The processed t-A1M bound to heme, but was also capable of degrading the heme group to a heterogeneous chromophore associated with the protein. The t-A1M form is produced in vivo and has been found in urine, skin, and placenta [41,44–46]. Together, these reports suggest that A1M contributes to extracellular heme clearance by binding and degradation.

#### Radical scavenging

The radical scavenging mechanism of A1M was studied using the synthetic radical ABTS [10] and it was shown that A1M reacts with this radical in a reaction that involves Cys34-catalyzed reduction and results in covalent trapping of radical metabolites to several amino acid side chains on A1M (Fig. 3B). A1M was shown to reduce 5-6 molecules of the ABTS radical in a rapid semicatalytic reaction, and covalently trapped three additional ABTS radicals by attaching them onto tyrosyl side chains. Two of the modified Tyr residues were identified as Tyr22 and Tyr132 (Fig. 2). Besides these two tyrosyl residues, several lysyl side chains were shown to be modified by radical trapping. Thus, Lys69 [47], 92, 118, and 130 [3] are covalently modified in human A1M isolated from urine. Furthermore, the tryptophan metabolite 3-OH-kynurenin, which has a propensity to form free radicals [48], was identified as a lysyl modification on urinary A1M from hemodialysis patients [49]. The side chains of Lys92, 118, and 130 may therefore serve a dual role both in activation of the Cys34 thiol by lowering its  $pK_a$  [38] and as electron donors in the radical-trapping mechanism. Finally, it has also been reported that the Cys34 thiol itself may be covalently modified by unidentified



**Fig. 4.** A1M protects and binds to mitochondria. Keratinocytes (A–C) were incubated for 20 h at room temperature with buffer only (A), with 20  $\mu$ M heme (B), or with 20  $\mu$ M heme and 10  $\mu$ M A1M (C). The samples were prepared, analyzed, and observed as described [37]. Scale bar in C indicates 2  $\mu$ m (is applicable for panels A–C). Mitochondrial structures are highlighted with arrows and depicted in details (zoomed pictures). Scale bar in zoomed inset of C indicates 0.5  $\mu$ m (is applicable for zoomed insets in A–C). Electron microscopy immunolabeling of human primary keratinocytes with gold-labeled anti-A1M was performed (D). A1M is seen to be localized to mitochondria. The samples were prepared and observed as described [37]. Scale bar indicates 100 nm. The effect of A1M on mitochondrial function was investigated by measuring ATP production of purified mitochondria exposed to heme or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, as described in [37]. Mitochondria were incubated with 1–20  $\mu$ M heme, with or without 10  $\mu$ M A1M (E) or 20–250  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> with or without 10  $\mu$ M A1M (F) for 30 min. \* *P* < 0.05. Figure adapted with permission from [37].

brown-colored oxidation products *in vivo* [50]. The term "radical sink" was used to describe the radical-binding property of A1M [10], referring to the fact that both the radicals and the A1M protein itself are electroneutral after the reactions and therefore do not present any further oxidative stress to tissue components. Although this radical-trapping mechanism has so far not been proven to occur *in vivo*, it is likely that it is physiologically relevant *in vivo* (see below for a summary of data obtained *in vivo*) [51,52]. Furthermore, the presence of a heavily modified and brown-colored A1M protein in human urine, compared to albumin purified from the same source (Fig. 3C), suggests that radical scavenging is a highly A1M-specific reaction and not a nonspecific protein modification occurring on plasma and tissue proteins in general.

#### Upregulated A1M expression

The expression of the A1M gene (AMBP) is increased during oxidative stress. Upregulated expression of A1M, both on mRNA and protein levels, has been shown in human cell lines, primary keratinocytes, and skin and retina explants after exposure to stress conditions with hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals, Hb, and heme [32,53,54]. This is supported by human in vivo data. Thus, Olsson et al. [46] showed a correlation between the concentrations in plasma and placenta tissue of A1M and Hb, and between A1M and biomarkers of oxidative stress (protein carbonyl groups and plasma peroxidation capacity), respectively, in preeclampsia (PE), a human disease characterized by oxidative stress (see below). To date, the transcription factors responsible for this upregulation have not been identified. However, it may be speculated that the A1M gene is regulated by the antioxidant response element (ARE) and thus is under control by the Keap1/Nrf2 system [55,56]. This has, however, so far not been shown.

#### **Protective effects**

Employing the molecular mechanisms described above, A1M can protect cells and tissues against internal and external chemical challenge. A unifying model of the physiological role of A1M is that it functions as a radical sink, continuously cleaning tissues from free radicals and oxidants, including free heme and radicals generated by extracellular Hb, heme, and iron, by binding and neutralizing them and delivering the products to the kidneys for degradation and/or excretion. Below, the *in vitro*, *ex vivo*, and *in vivo* findings of the A1M protective effects of are summarized.

# *Cell models: Protection against Hb-, heme-, and radical-induced cell and tissue damage*

Several reports describe in vitro protective actions of A1M in cell cultures stressed by exposure to Hb, heme, and free radicals. We found that exogenously added A1M prevented intracellular oxidation and upregulation of HO-1 induced by heme, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and Fenton reaction-generated hydroxyl radicals in primary keratinocytes [32] and in the erythroid cell line K562 [39]. Further confirmation of this was that silencing of the endogenous A1M expression by addition of siRNA led to an increased cytosol oxidation [39]. In addition, we showed that exogenous A1M inhibited cell lysis of K562 cells caused by heme and cleared the cells from bound heme. It was shown that 200  $\mu$ M heme killed 50% of the cells but adding 2 µM A1M lowered the proportion of dead cells to 15% [39]. As discussed above, A1M is expected to act by clearing both intra- and extracellular fluids from radicals and heme groups. Supporting this, internalization of extracellular A1M by the K562 cells could be shown [39]. Furthermore, exogenous A1M was shown to inhibit the swelling of mitochondria, and to reverse the severely abrogated ATP production of mitochondria when exposed to heme and  $H_2O_2$  [37] (Fig. 4).

## Cell models: Protection against irradiation-induced cell damage

A1M added to the culture medium was also shown to inhibit the propagation of cell death induced by irradiation of HepG2 cell monolayers [40,57]. The cells were irradiated with a low dose of alpha-particles at a small, restricted area. Addition of A1M reduced the amount of dead cells by approximately 50% in irradiated cells (directly hit cells) and by 100% in the cells surrounding the irradiation area, not directly hit by the particles (bystander cells), and completely inhibited the irradiation-induced apoptosis, formation of carbonyl groups, and upregulation of the stress response-related genes HO-1, p21, and p53. These results suggests that A1M protects against bystander cell killing by tissue housekeeping, i.e., clearing of free radicals and oxidants, released from the irradiated cells.

## Organ models: Protection of skin explants and ex vivo perfused placenta.

The protective effects of A1M have been studied in skin explants and in a perfused placenta model [32,36]. In the skin explants, exogenously added A1M inhibited the heme-induced ultrastructural damage (Figs. 5A-C), upregulation of antioxidation and cell cycle regulatory genes, and formation of protein carbonyl groups, a marker of oxidative stress [32]. Furthermore, A1M was shown to be localized ubiquitously in the dermal and epidermal layers of skin, and the AMBP gene, which is expressed in keratinocytes, was also upregulated after exposure to heme and Fenton reaction-generated hydroxyl radicals [32]. Besides skin, A1M has been described to be widely distributed in placenta cells and matrix [35,46], and its protective effects were investigated in the placenta perfusion model [36]. This model enables studies of cell and matrix structure and functions including the feto-maternal barrier [58]. While ex vivo perfusion with Hb in the fetal circulation led to a significant increase of the perfusion pressure, fetomaternal leakage of Hb, morphological damage, and upregulation of genes related to immune response, apoptosis, and oxidative stress, simultaneous addition of A1M to the maternal circulation abrogated the Hb leakage (Fig. 5D), morphological damage (Fig. 6B), and gene upregulation [36].

The skin and placenta studies also demonstrated a protective effect of A1M vis-à-vis extracellular matrix and collagen fibrils. In fact, destruction of collagen fibrils by incubation with Hb, heme, or Fenton reaction-generated hydroxyl radicals was almost completely inhibited by A1M (Fig. 6). The fibrils could also be repaired by addition of A1M after the destruction already had taken place, most likely the result of hydroxyl radical clearing [32]. Interestingly, perfusion of placentas with A1M induced a significant upregulation of extracellular matrix genes, and a remarkable increase was observed in the number of collagen fibrils [36]. Currently, it is not clear how this additional effect of the A1M is related to its reductase, radical-binding, and hemebinding properties.

## In vivo models: Protection effects of A1M infusion in rat and sheep models

BM ECM -O-Contro 0.4 - Hemoglobin Hemoglobin (mg/ml) noglobin 0.2 0 0 30 60 90 120 Time (min)

In two very recent studies [51,52] we evaluated the protective effect of A1M in two different in vivo animal models. In the first study, A1M was shown to prevent kidney damage in rats, induced by a

Fig. 5. A1M protects cells and tissue. Skin sections (A-C) were incubated for 20 h at room temperature with buffer only (A), with 20 µM heme (B), or with 20 µM heme and 10 µM A1M (C). The samples were prepared, analyzed, and observed as described [32]. Abbreviations: BM, basement membrane; PM, plasma membrane; ECM, extracellular matrix. Scale bar in C indicate 2 µm (is applicable for panels A–C). Ex vivo placenta perfusion with 3 mg/ml Hb (•), 3 mg/ml Hb +0.5 mg/ml A1M (•), 0.5 mg/ml A1M (•), or perfusion medium only (•). Figure adapted with permission from [32,36].





**Fig. 6.** Protection and repair of collagen fibrils. (A) Transmission electron microscopy of purified collagen I [32]. Collagen was incubated with buffer for 24 h at room temperature to allow fibrillation (left). Fibrils were then incubated for a second 24 h period with 20  $\mu$ M heme (middle). Fibrils incubated with heme were then incubated for a third 24 h period with 10  $\mu$ M A1M (right). To study binding of A1M to collagen (right, inset), collagen was allowed to form fibrils for 24 h and then incubated with gold-labeled A1M and analyzed as described [32]. (B) Transmission electron microscopy of placental extracellular matrix after *in vitro* perfusion 2 h with medium (left), 3 mg/ml Hb (middle), or 3 mg/ml Hb+0.5 mg/ml A1M (right). The conditions are described in [36]. Figure adapted with permission from [32,36].

continuous Hb infusion [52]. The Hb infusion caused a rapid and marked increase in glomerular permeability, which was almost totally reversed by A1M.

PE is a serious pregnancy complication associated with oxidative stress, where extracellular Hb has been identified as a plausible causative factor [59,60]. The therapeutic potential of A1M as a treatment of PE was investigated in a pregnant ewe PE model, a model wherein starvation induces hemolysis and subsequent release of Hb, heme, and free radicals [51]. Late pregnancy ewes were starved for 36 h and then treated with intravenous A1M or placebo injections. Following the injections, the ewes were refed and monitored for additional 72 h. Starvation induced PE-like symptoms, *e.g.*, increased levels of the hemolysis marker bilirubin, structural damage to the placenta and kidneys, and increased glomerular permeability. The observed pathological effects were ameliorated by A1M infusion.

## Therapeutic potential of A1M

Many diseases and conditions are associated with unwanted oxidation of cells and molecules in the tissues and lead to formation of reactive free radicals, which in turn may lead to tissue damage and subsequent development of disease. Potential therapeutic drugs with antioxidant properties have been evaluated during the past decades, but the outcome of these studies have mostly been unsuccessful and there is still a need for developing safe drugs for the treatment or prophylaxis of diseases or conditions that have an oxidative stress element [61]. Based on its role in tissue housekeeping as a heme and radical clearing agent, A1M is a possible candidate for therapeutic use in clinical situations with a high load of oxidants, radicals, Hb, and/or heme. Treatment of preeclampsia, Hb-induced glomerular filtration injury, and skin wound healing has been reported as described above. A1M has several advantages over traditional antioxidants/radical scavengers such as vitamins E and C: (1) A1M is a naturally occurring protein with its own metabolic routes ensuring optimal delivery and clearance. (2) The molar capacity of A1M in binding/buffering radicals is approximately 10:1, compared to 1:1 for vitamins C and E. (3) After

binding a maximum load of radicals, and/or reducing oxidants or oxidation products, A1M does not present any oxidative stress to tissue components. Overall, A1M presents as a very interesting therapeutic opportunity for a number of diseases and iatrogen conditions, but it still remains to be investigated in clinical use.

## **Concluding remarks**

A1M was discovered almost 40 years ago, purified from human urine [1]. It was soon shown to be conserved in all vertebrates, secreted from liver and most other epithelial cells, and present in blood and all tissues at remarkably constant concentrations [2]. A recent series of reports strongly suggest that A1M has a physiological role as a protective antioxidant, operating by clearing extravascular fluids of free radicals and heme groups, and transporting them to the kidneys for degradation [4] (Fig. 1). Based on a role as a tissue housekeeping cleaning factor, A1M is a potential therapeutic drug candidate in treatment or prophylaxis of diseases or conditions that have an oxidative stress element, and future research should be aimed toward both its clinical usefulness and further mechanistic studies.

## Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the contribution of past and present co-workers and members of the A1M-group at Lund University, Sweden. B.Å. and M.G. are cofounders and shareholders of the company A1M Pharma AB.

#### References

- Ekström, B.; Peterson, P. A.; Berggård, I. A urinary and plasma α<sub>1</sub>-glycoprotein of low molecular weight: isolation and some properties. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 65:1427–1433; 1975.
- [2] Åkerström, B.; Lögdberg, L. An intriguing member of the lipocalin protein family: α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **15**:240–243; 1990.

- [3] Berggård, T.; Cohen, A.; Persson, P.; Lindqvist, A.; Cedervall, T.; Silow, M.; Thogersen, I. B.; Jonsson, J. A.; Enghild, J. J.; Åkerström, B. α<sub>1</sub>-Microglobulin chromophores are located to three lysine residues semiburied in the lipocalin pocket and associated with a novel lipophilic compound. *Protein Sci.* 8:2611 -2620; 1999.
- [4] Olsson, M. G.; Allhorn, M.; Bulow, L.; Hansson, S. R.; Ley, D.; Olsson, M. L.; Schmidtchen, A.; Åkerström, B. Pathological conditions involving extracellular hemoglobin: molecular mechanisms, clinical significance, and novel therapeutic opportunities for α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* **17**:813–846; 2012.
- [5] Ekström, B.; Berggård, I. Human α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin. Purification procedure, chemical and physiochemical properties. J. Biol. Chem. 252:8048–8057; 1977.
- [6] Kaumeyer, J. F.; Polazzi, J. O.; Kotick, M. P. The mRNA for a proteinase inhibitor related to the HI-30 domain of inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor also encodes alpha-1-microglobulin (protein HC). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14:7839–7850; 1986.
- [7] Amoresano, A.; Minchiotti, L.; Cosulich, M. E.; Campagnoli, M.; Pucci, P.; Andolfo, A.; Gianazza, E.; Galliano, M. Structural characterization of the oligosaccharide chains of human α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin from urine and amniotic fluid. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **267**:2105–2112; 2000.
- [8] Meining, W.; Skerra, A. The crystal structure of human α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin reveals a potential haem-binding site. *Biochem. J.* 445:175–182; 2012.
- [9] Grzyb, J.; Latowski, D.; Strzalka, K. Lipocalins-a family portrait. J. Plant Physiol. 163:895-915; 2006.
- [10] Åkerström, B.; Maghzal, G. J.; Winterbourn, C. C.; Kettle, A. J. The lipocalin α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin has radical scavenging activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282:31493--31503; 2007.
- [11] Shigetomi, H.; Onogi, A.; Kajiwara, H.; Yoshida, S.; Furukawa, N.; Haruta, S.; Tanase, Y.; Kanayama, S.; Noguchi, T.; Yamada, Y.; Oi, H.; Kobayashi, H. Antiinflammatory actions of serine protease inhibitors containing the Kunitz domain. *Inflamm. Res.* **59**:679–687; 2010.
- [12] Chen, L.; Mao, S. J.; Larsen, W. J. Identification of a factor in fetal bovine serum that stabilizes the cumulus extracellular matrix. A role for a member of the inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor family. J. Biol. Chem. 267:12380–12386; 1992.
- [13] Fries, E.; Blom, A. M. Bikunin-not just a plasma proteinase inhibitor. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 32:125-137; 2000.
- [14] Lindqvist, A.; Bratt, T.; Altieri, M.; Kastern, W.; Åkerström, B. Rat  $\alpha_1$ -microglobulin: co-expression in liver with the light chain of inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1130**:63–67; 1992.
- [15] Bratt, T.; Olsson, H.; Sjöberg, E. M.; Jergil, B.; Åkerström, B. Cleavage of the α<sub>1</sub>microglobulin-bikunin precursor is localized to the Golgi apparatus of rat liver cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1157**:147–154; 1993.
- [16] Diarra-Mehrpour, M.; Bourguignon, J.; Sesboue, R.; Mattei, M. G.; Passage, E.; Salier, J. P.; Martin, J. P. Human plasma inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor is encoded by four genes on three chromosomes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **179**:147–154; 1989.
- [17] Lindqvist, A.; Rouet, P.; Salier, J. P.; Åkerström, B. The α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin/ bikunin gene: characterization in mouse and evolution. *Gene* 234:329–336; 1999.
- [18] Salier, J. P.; Verga, V.; Doly, J.; Diarra-Mehrpour, M.; Erickson, R. P. The genes for the inter-alpha-inhibitor family share a homologous organization in human and mouse. *Mamm. Genome* 2:233–239; 1992.
- [19] Åkerström, B. Tissue distribution of guinea pig α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin. *Cell. Mol. Biol.* 29:489–495; 1983.
- [20] Tejler, L.; Eriksson, S.; Grubb, A.; Astedt, B. Production of protein HC by human fetal liver explants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 542:506–514; 1978.
- [21] Rouet, P.; Raguenez, G.; Tronche, F.; Yaniv, M.; N'Guyen, C.; Salier, J. P. A potent enhancer made of clustered liver-specific elements in the transcription control sequences of human alpha 1-microglobulin/bikunin gene. J. Biol. Chem. 267:20765–20773; 1992.
- [22] Rouet, P.; Raguenez, G.; Tronche, F.; Mfou'ou, V.; Salier, J. P. Hierarchy and positive/negative interplays of the hepatocyte nuclear factors HNF-1, -3 and -4 in the liver-specific enhancer for the human alpha-1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:395–404; 1995.
- [23] Rouet, P.; Raguenez, G.; Ruminy, P.; Salier, J. P. An array of binding sites for hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 of high and low affinities modulates the liverspecific enhancer for the human alpha1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor. *Biochem. J.* 334(Pt 3):577–584; 1998.
- [24] DeMars, D. D.; Katzmann, J. A.; Kimlinger, T. K.; Calore, J. D.; Tracy, R. P. Simultaneous measurement of total and IgA-conjugated α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin by a combined immunoenzyme/immunoradiometric assay technique. *Clin. Chem.* **35:**766–772; 1989.
- [25] Grubb, A. O.; Lopez, C.; Tejler, L.; Mendez, E. Isolation of human complexforming glycoprotein, heterogeneous in charge (protein HC), and its IgA complex from plasma. Physiochemical and immunochemical properties, normal plasma concentration. J. Biol. Chem. 258:14698–14707; 1983.
- **[26]** Berggård, T.; Thelin, N.; Falkenberg, C.; Enghild, J. J.; Åkerström, B. Prothrombin, albumin and immunoglobulin A form covalent complexes with  $\alpha_1$ -microglobulin in human plasma. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **245:**676–683; 1997.
- [27] Wester, L; Fast, J.; Labuda, T.; Cedervall, T.; Wingårdh, K.; Olofsson, T.; Åkerström, B. Carbohydrate groups of α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin are important for secretion and tissue localization but not for immunological properties. *Glycobiology* **10**:891–900; 2000.
- [28] Larsson, J.; Wingårdh, K.; Berggård, T.; Davies, J. R.; Lögdberg, L.; Strand, S. E.; Åkerström, B. Distribution of iodine <sup>125</sup>-labeled α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in rats after intravenous injection. J. Lab. Clin. Med. **137**:165–175; 2001.
- [29] Nordberg, J.; Allhorn, M.; Winqvist, I.; Åkerström, B.; Olsson, M. L. Quantitative and qualitative evaluation of plasma and urine α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in healthy

donors and patients with different haemolytic disorders and haemochromatosis. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **386**:31–37; 2007.

- [30] Berggård, T.; Oury, T. D.; Thogersen, I. B.; Åkerström, B.; Enghild, J. J. α<sub>1</sub>-Microglobulin is found both in blood and in most tissues. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 46:887–894; 1998.
- [31] Odum, L.; Nielsen, H. W. Human protein HC (α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin) and interalpha-trypsin inhibitor in connective tissue. *Histochem. J.* 26:799–803; 1994.
- [32] Olsson, M. G.; Allhorn, M.; Larsson, J.; Cederlund, M.; Lundqvist, K.; Schmidtchen, A.; Sorensen, O. E.; Mörgelin, M.; Åkerström, B. Up-regulation of A1M/α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in skin by heme and reactive oxygen species gives protection from oxidative damage. *PLoS One* **6**:e27505; 2011.
- [33] Bouic, P.; Kanitakis, J.; Schmitt, D.; Vincent, C.; Revillard, J. P.; Thivolet, J. α<sub>1</sub>microglobulin: a new antigenic component of the epidermo-dermal junction in normal human skin. Br. J. Dermatol. **112**:35–41; 1985.
- [34] Santin, M.; Cannas, M. Collagen-bound α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in normal and healed tissues and its effect on immunocompetent cells. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 50:289–295; 1999.
- [35] Berggård, T.; Enghild, J. J.; Badve, S.; Salafia, C. M.; Lögdberg, L.; Åkerström, B. Histologic distribution and biochemical properties of α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in human placenta. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* **41**:52–60; 1999.
- [36] May, K.; Rosenlöf, L.; Olsson, M. G.; Centlow, M.; Mörgelin, M.; Larsson, I.; Cederlund, M.; Rutardóttir, S.; Siegmund, W.; Schneider, H.; Åkerström, B.; Hansson, S. R. Perfusion of human placenta with hemoglobin introduces preeclampsia-like injuries that are prevented by α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin. *Placenta* 32:323–332; 2011.
- [37] Olsson, M. G.; Rosenlöf, L. W.; Kotarsky, H.; Olofsson, T.; Leanderson, T.; Mörgelin, M.; Fellman, V.; Åkerström, B. The radical-binding lipocalin A1M binds to a Complex I subunit and protects mitochondrial structure and function. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 18:2017–2028; 2013.
- [38] Allhorn, M.; Klapyta, A.; Åkerström, B. Redox properties of the lipocalin α<sub>1</sub>microglobulin: reduction of cytochrome c, hemoglobin, and free iron. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 38:557–567; 2005.
- [39] Olsson, M. G.; Olofsson, T.; Tapper, H.; Åkerström, B. The lipocalin α<sub>1</sub>microglobulin protects erythroid K562 cells against oxidative damage induced by heme and reactive oxygen species. *Free Radic. Res.* 42:725–736; 2008.
- [40] Rutardottir, S.; Nilsson, E. J.; Pallon, J.; Gram, M.; Åkerström, B. The cysteine 34 residue of A1M/α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin is essential for protection of irradiated cell cultures and reduction of carbonyl groups. *Free Radic. Res.* 47:541–550; 2013.
- [41] Allhorn, M.; Berggård, T.; Nordberg, J.; Olsson, M. L.; Åkerström, B. Processing of the lipocalin α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin by hemoglobin induces heme-binding and heme-degradation properties. *Blood* **99**:1894–1901; 2002.
- [42] Larsson, J.; Allhorn, M.; Åkerström, B. The lipocalin  $\alpha_1$ -microglobulin binds heme in different species. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **432**:196–204; 2004.
- [43] Siebel, J. F.; Kosinsky, R. L.; Åkerström, B.; Knipp, M. Insertion of heme b into the structure of the Cys34-carbamidomethylated human lipocalin  $\alpha_1$ -micro-globulin: formation of a [(heme)(2) (a<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin)](3) complex. *Chembiochem* **13:**879–887; 2012.
- [44] Lopez, C.; Grubb, A.; Mendez, E. Human protein HC displays variability in its carboxyl-terminal amino acid sequence. FEBS Lett. 144:349–353; 1982.
- [45] Allhorn, M.; Lundqvist, K.; Schmidtchen, A.; Åkerström, B. Heme-scavenging role of α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in chronic ulcers. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **121**:640–646; 2003.
- [46] Olsson, M. G.; Centlow, M.; Rutardóttir, S.; Stenfors, I.; Larsson, J.; Hosseini-Maaf, B.; Olsson, M. L.; Hansson, S. R.; Åkerström, B. Increased levels of cellfree hemoglobin, oxidation markers, and the antioxidative heme scavenger α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in preeclampsia. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **48**:284–291; 2010.
- [47] Åkerström, B.; Bratt, T.; Enghild, J. J. Formation of the α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin chromophore in mammalian and insect cells: a novel post-translational mechanism? *FEBS Lett.* 362:50–54; 1995.
- [48] Vazquez, S.; Garner, B.; Sheil, M. M.; Truscott, R. J. Characterisation of the major autoxidation products of 3-hydroxykynurenine under physiological conditions. *Free Radic. Res.* 32:11–23; 2000.
- [49] Sala, A.; Campagnoli, M.; Perani, E.; Romano, A.; Labo, S.; Monzani, E.; Minchiotti, L.; Galliano, M. Human α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin is covalently bound to kynurenine-derived chromophores. J. Biol. Chem. **279:**51033–51041; 2004.
- [50] Escribano, J.; Grubb, A.; Calero, M.; Mendez, E. The protein HC chromophore is linked to the cysteine residue at position 34 of the polypeptide chain by a reduction-resistant bond and causes the charge heterogeneity of protein HC. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266:15758–15763; 1991.
- [51] Rosenlöf, L. W.; Casslén, V.; Axelsson, J.; Edström-Hägerwall, A.; Gram, M.; Holmquist, M.; Johansson, M. E.; Larsson, I.; Ley, D.; Marsal, K.; Mörgelin, M.; Rippe, B.; Rutardottir, S.; Shohani, B.; Åkerström, B.; Hansson, S. R. A1M/α<sub>1</sub>microglobulin protects from heme-induced placental and renal damage in a pregnant sheep model of preeclampsia. *PLoS One* **9(1)**:e86353, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086353</u>.
- [52] Sverrisson, K.; Axelsson, J.; Rippe, A.; Gram, M.; Åkerström, B.; Hansson, S. R.; Rippe, B. Extracellular fetal hemoglobin (HbF) induces increases in glomerular permeability. Inhibition with α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin (A1M) and Tempol. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol; 2013.
- [53] Olsson, M. G.; Allhorn, M.; Olofsson, T.; Åkerström, B. Up-regulation of α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin by hemoglobin and reactive oxygen species in hepatoma and blood cell lines. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **42**:842–851; 2007.
- [54] Cederlund, M.; Ghosh, F.; Arner, K.; Andreasson, S.; Åkerström, B. Vitreous levels of oxidative stress biomarkers and the radical-scavenger  $\alpha_1$ -microglobulin/A1M in human rhegmatogenous retinal detachment. Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.; 2012.

- [55] Itoh, K.; Chiba, T.; Takahashi, S.; Ishii, T.; Igarashi, K.; Katoh, Y.; Oyake, T.; Hayashi, N.; Satoh, K.; Hatayama, I.; Yamamoto, M.; Nabeshima, Y. An Nrt2/ small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 236:313–322; 1997.
- [56] Zhu, H.; Itoh, K.; Yamamoto, M.; Zweier, J. L.; Li, Y. Role of Nrf2 signaling in regulation of antioxidants and phase 2 enzymes in cardiac fibroblasts: protection against reactive oxygen and nitrogen species-induced cell injury. *FEBS Lett.* 579:3029–3036; 2005.
- [57] Olsson, M. G.; Nilsson, E. J.; Rutardottir, S.; Paczesny, J.; Pallon, J.; Åkerström, B. Bystander cell death and stress response is inhibited by the radical scavenger α<sub>1</sub>-microglobulin in irradiated cell cultures. *Radiat. Res.* **174:**590–600; 2010.
- [58] Schneider, H.; Huch, A. Dual in vitro perfusion of an isolated lobe of human placenta: method and instrumentation. *Contrib. Gynecol. Obstet.* 13:40–47; 1985.
- [59] Roberts, J. M.; Escudero, C. The placenta in preeclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertens* 2:72–83; 2012.
- [60] Hansson, S. R.; Gram, M.; Åkerström, B. Fetal hemoglobin in preeclampsia: a new causative factor, a tool for prediction/diagnosis and a potential target for therapy. *Curr. Opin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 25:448–455; 2013.
- [61] Murphy, M. P. Antioxidants as therapies: can we improve on nature? Free Radic. Biol. Med. 66:20–23; 2014.